No. 45000-3

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re The Detention of John C. Anderson

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JOHN C. ANDERSON, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF PIERCE COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JOHN MCCARTHY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410
PO Box 829
Graham, WA
509.939.3038

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to try Mr. Anderson under RCW 71.09.
- B. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Anderson committed a recent overt act, an essential element.
- C. The State failed to show beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Anderson suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him currently dangerous.
- D. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Anderson should be committed under RCW 71.09.

II. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. An RCW 71.09 petition may be filed on 5 classes of individuals. Where the legislature has distinguished between commission of a sexually violent offense by a juvenile and an adult conviction for a sexually violent offense, does the Court have authority to try an individual who was found to have committed a sexually violent offense as a juvenile, but has since been released from total confinement?
- B. Personal liberty and freedom of association are fundamental constitutional rights that guarantee individuals may enter into and maintain certain intimate human relationships. Where an individual

engages in legal consensual homosexual activity, can those activities later be presented by the State as recent overt acts as defined in RCW 71.09.020(12)?

C. Did the State prove beyond a reasonable doubt a recent and overt act?

D. Did the State present sufficient evidence to sustain a finding that Mr. Anderson has a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes him currently dangerous?

E. Did the State prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Anderson should be confined under RCW 71.09?

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Procedural History

The State filed a petition for commitment under RCW 71.09 on John Anderson on February 25, 2000¹. *In re Det. of Anderson*, 134 Wn.App. 309, 139 P.3d 396 (2006). After a 2004 bench trial, Mr. Anderson was committed to the Special Commitment Center. On review, the Division 2 appellate court was split as to whether the State had proved a recent overt act beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 326. The matter was

¹ In its opinion, the Washington Supreme Court mistakenly wrote “Prior to Anderson’s release [in 1990 from JRA], the State filed a petition to involuntarily commit him as an SVP”. *In re Det. of Anderson*, 166 Wn.2d at 546. A petition was not filed on Mr. Anderson until February 2000. (12/3/12 RP 78).

reversed and remanded on the basis that Mr. Anderson was entitled to appointment of a defense expert witness. *Id.* at 322.

Both parties sought review to the Washington Supreme Court. *In re Det. of Anderson*, 166 Wn.2d 543, 211 P.3d 994 (2009). The Court reviewed whether Mr. Anderson was entitled to appointment of a defense expert witness and whether his purported conduct amounted to recent overt acts. *Id.* at 549. The Court affirmed the Division 2 ruling on the expert opinion issue. In a sharply divided opinion, (5/4), the Court ruled the acts relied upon by the State could amount to a recent overt act. *Id.* at 550. The Court held that on remand, “Whether or not Anderson’s conduct amounted to a recent overt act, as with the other elements of the State’s case, will have to be proved at that new trial.” *Id.* at 552. Mr. Anderson was retried four years later in 2013; that trial is the subject of this appeal.

B. Pretrial Rulings

In pretrial hearings, the defense filed a motion to dismiss based on (1) lack of subject matter jurisdiction; (2) Mr. Anderson’s consensual sexual activity was a protected constitutional right while he was a voluntary patient at Western State Hospital and did not amount to a recent overt act; and (3) The statutory term “recent” is vague. (12/3/12 RP 53; 73; CP 144-180). The court denied the motions. (12/3/12 RP 133; CP 433-435).

C. Factual History

In 1988, seventeen-year-old John Anderson pleaded guilty to statutory rape in the first degree. He was sentenced to 100 weeks commitment in Juvenile Rehabilitation. *In re Detention of John Anderson*, 166 Wn.2d 543, 546, 211 P.3d 994 (2009). At trial in 2004 and 2013, the State relied on Mr. Anderson's 1988 adjudication to establish that he had committed a crime of sexual violence.

As part of his treatment at Maple Lane Mr. Anderson participated in sex offender cognitive and behavioral therapy, which required, among other things, a full disclosure of other unprosecuted sexual offenses against children, as well as his sexual fantasies and urges. (Vol. 8 RP 512-513). In July 1989, while still at Maple Lane, Mr. Anderson exposed himself to a staff member and served 45 days in Thurston County jail for public indecency, a misdemeanor. (CP 665).

Upon his release from Maple Lane in June 1990, Mr. Anderson, then nineteen years old, immediately entered Western State Hospital (WSH) as an involuntary patient. (RP 701;1309). He remained as a voluntary patient for ten years. (RP 461; CP 668). He was assigned to the sex offender unit and participated in treatment five days per week, one to two hours per day for approximately ten years. The goals of treatment included learning to eliminate or minimize deviant desires and enhance

consensual relationship skills. (RP 478; 779). He learned his offending patterns, was able to identify his high-risk situations to reoffend, completed a detailed prevention plan, and learned about the coping responses necessary to stay offense free. (RP 702-03).

By 1993, Mr. Anderson had earned grounds privileges and over time was granted approximately 145 authorized leaves for the day, night, or a long weekend, all without incident. (RP 920). There were no reports or complaints that Mr. Anderson did anything sexually inappropriate while on authorized leaves. (RP 834). He also obtained employment at the hospital. (RP 800-803;920).

At trial, Dr. Larry Arnholt, a treating psychologist at WSH, testified that both voluntary and involuntary patients at WSH maintained their civil rights. (RP 786-87). The WSH policy on sexual contact between patients in effect during the years of Mr. Anderson's stay held:

“WSH patients retain all personal, legal, civil and human rights by law which they are capable of exercising. WSH patients do establish close interpersonal relationships and those relationships may, on occasion, involve sexual intimacy. The human need for intimacy, warmth, affection, and sexual expression is universal. Patients admitted to a psychiatric setting continue to have universal human needs for sexual expression and the capacity to exercise this expression responsibly under many circumstances.

In this connection, the hospital's responsibilities are:

- A. Prevent the exploitation of sexually vulnerable patients.
- B. Provide the knowledge and the means to prevent sexually transmitted diseases and unwanted pregnancies.

- C. Assist patients to acquire the skills to make reasoned and sound decisions regarding the management of their sexual behavior, while at the same time ensuring a safe environment.
- D. Provide an environment conducive to discussion of issues concerning sexuality.

(Exhibit R-28).

He testified, “There was no expectation that there would be no sexual contact between patients.” (RP 786;464). The policy provided that if “abstinence or alternative methods of sexual expression and monogamy are not chosen, then safe sex guidelines should be provided. Prevention recommendation should be based on the sexual behaviors practiced by the individual.” (RP 786). Patients, including Mr. Anderson, could and did obtain prophylactics such as condoms from the nursing staff. (RP 783-85).

According to Dr. Arnholt’s testimony, if a developmentally disabled patient engaged in sex with another patient, and there was concern about capacity to consent, the staff psychiatrist was to be informed, and an incident report filed. (RP 796). The hospital staff (psychiatrist) was responsible to determine whether a developmentally disabled individual had the capability to consent to sexual activity. (RP 796). Considered mandatory reporters, the staff at WSH were also obligated to notify local law enforcement if there was a complaint about or an incident amounting to sexual assault. (RP 794-796).

1. Alleged Recent Overt Acts

At trial, the State relied on four relationships Mr. Anderson had with patients at WSH between the years of 1990 and 1999 to establish the element of a recent overt act. Mr. Anderson disclosed to his treatment providers that in 1990, when he first entered WSH, he had sexual relations 3 or 4 times with a fellow patient on the unit named “Darryl.” Darryl was 17 years his senior with a history of pedophilia and a diagnosis of moderate mental retardation. (RP 468; CP 670). Darryl was sexually promiscuous and believably boasted that he had had sex with everyone on the sex offender ward. (RP 642). Mr. Anderson was instructed to end the relationship and he eventually complied. (RP 469).

Mr. Anderson reported to treatment providers that in 1994 he twice had sexual relations with “Curtis”. (RP 470; 630). Curtis was a large man, mildly retarded, who “was kind of a bully” and used his size to get his own way. (RP 471). Housed on the same unit, he was promiscuous, and often made “sexually suggestive, very crude comments to others.” (RP 470-71).

He also reported some instances of sexual activity with “Bobby,” a developmentally delayed patient in the unit in 1994. (RP 630). The treating psychologist described him as “a rather hypersexual individual, promiscuous.” (RP 469-170).

Between 1992 or 1993 and 1999, Mr. Anderson had a sexual relationship with “Rory”. A patient on the same ward, Rory had a diagnosis of borderline personality disorder. (RP 828; CP 668). Dr. Arnholt testified Rory was very promiscuous and there were “very few individuals on the ward that he likely did not have sex with” and concluded “he (Rory) had control and knew what he was doing- but was vulnerable in the sense that he had borderline personality disorder.” (RP 466).

Mr. Anderson was counseled that because his partners were at a lower level of intellectual or emotional functioning there was concern about their vulnerability. (RP 469; 472). However, the State presented no evidence establishing the mental age of any of Mr. Anderson’s partners. Dr. Arnholt also testified there was no evidence that Mr. Anderson ever used physical coercion or bribery to engage in sexual activity with any of his partners, rather, they each wanted to have sex with Mr. Anderson. (RP 471; 793). There were no incident reports by WSH staff (per the protocol) alleging Mr. Anderson’s partners lacked the capacity to consent to sexual activity. (RP 469;793;797).

2. Expert Witness Testimony

Maureen Saylor, a certified sex offender treatment provider conducted a penile plethysmograph (PPG) assessment on Mr. Anderson in

1991 at WSH. (RP 681;684). At that time, Mr. Anderson had significant arousal to almost all of the stimuli he heard regarding children. (RP 686). The *lowest* level of arousal was to stimuli of sadism with a minor male, at 29 percent. She provided specific behavioral treatments to assist him in decreasing his arousal to the deviant material. (RP 687). She believed he had complied with the behavioral treatment, but heard through another party that he had somehow sabotaged the procedure. (RP 689).

She performed a second evaluation at his request in 1998. (RP 689). In this PPG, seventeen audiotapes depicting a variety of sexual themes were used. (RP 695). Mr. Anderson produced significant arousal to all scenarios, including consenting adult sexual activity and ten tapes describing sexual behavior with children and one tape describing a female adult rape. (RP 520;695) One of the goals for his treatment was to lower arousal to abnormal sexual stimuli. (RP 516-18). When asked to suppress to two high arousal scenarios, he suppressed his arousal to one scenario to four percent and zero on the highest arousal scenario. (RP 695; 706).

Dr. Amy Phenix, a State's witness, evaluated Mr. Anderson in 2001 and again in 2010. (RP 497-498). She diagnosed him as suffering from pedophilia, and stated, "We can't cure pedophilia, but we can help people to manage it, so they don't act out on it." (RP 501; 512). She defined pedophilia as follows:

“Over a period of at least six months, the individual experiences recurrent, intense, sexually arousing fantasies, sexual urges or behaviors involving sexual activity with a prepubescent child or children generally 13 years or younger. Furthermore, the person has acted on these sexual urges or the sexual urges or fantasies cause marked distress or interpersonal difficulty. To have this diagnosis, the person must be at least 16 years of age and at least five years older than the child or children referenced in the initial criteria.” (RP 502-503).

She also diagnosed Mr. Anderson as suffering from sexual sadism.

(RP 501). She defined sexual sadism as follows:

“Over a period of six months, the person experiences recurrent, intense sexually arousing fantasies, sexual urges or behaviors, involving acts which can be real or not simulated in which the psychological or physical suffering, including humiliation of the victim, is sexually exciting to the person. And the person has acted on these sexual urges with a nonconsenting person or the sexual urges or fantasies cause marked distress or interpersonal difficulty.” (RP 527-28).

She remarked that two offenses in Mr. Anderson’s history, the rape of two-year-old boys which caused physical suffering, caused her to believe there was evidence of sadism because he maintained a state of arousal while the child was so distressed. (RP 529-30). She believed that meant he was sexually aroused to the pain, humiliation, and harm. (RP 530). She relied on treatment notes from 1990 describing his demeanor during a retelling of the acts to conclude that he detached from the child’s pain, concluding “after he molested them...he was nice to them, but he didn’t really care about the pain that happened to them during the actual act, indicating a sexually sadistic arousal.” (RP 532). She also cited

some of the fantasies he disclosed when he was 19 -21 years old to substantiate the diagnosis. (RP 536-37).

Dr. Phenix acknowledged that in the 20-25 years of evaluations and assessments by psychologists and psychiatrists she was the only one who diagnosed Mr. Anderson with sexual sadism; after her diagnosis, it appeared two other times in his SCC file, the last time in 2009. (RP 639;896). Additionally she agreed that since 1987 or 1988 Mr. Anderson had not committed any acts consistent with sexual sadism. (RP 640).

Dr. Phenix was aware that Mr. Anderson's last offense, a simple misdemeanor, occurred when he was 18 years old. When questioned about the concept of "victim substitution²," that is, sexual activity with the four men in lieu of children that the State considered recent overt acts, Dr. Phenix testified:

"Yeah, let me clarify that. I don't think he thought they were children. I don't think that he believed that they were two-year-old boys. I think that in terms of approaching who he's having sex with and who he chooses to engage in sex with, we just – I just need to make sure that it doesn't – it doesn't have the same kind of aspects as his offending did, in other words, that he should not be engaging in sex with vulnerable patients, even if they are willing." (RP 667).

² The only other case which uses the concept of "victim substitution" is *State v. Marshall*, 156 Wn.2d 150, 125 P.3d 3111 (2005), which will be addressed and distinguished in the argument section of this brief.

She diagnosed Mr. Anderson with a catchall category of “personality disorder not otherwise specified,” stating he had traits of antisocial, borderline, and narcissistic personality disorder, rather than that he met the necessary criteria for a specific personality disorder. (RP 538). She did testify which, if any, psychological instruments she used to make her diagnosis.

In forming her opinions about risk, Dr. Phenix used several instruments. On the Static 99-R, Mr. Anderson scored a 5 out of 12, translating into an associated probability of sexual reoffense of 25.2% in 5 years and 35.5% in 10 years. (RP 569-70). Using the Static 2002-R test, she assessed he had a 41.6% change of reconviction (rather than a sexual reoffense) in 5 years and 52.3% in 10 years. (RP 579). She also administered an SRA-FV and determined his score was a 1.74

In 2001 and 2010 she used the Hare Psychopathy Checklist as an evaluation instrument. In 2001, Mr. Anderson scored 27.5, leading her to conclude he was *not* at a significantly increased risk for sexual reoffense. (RP 637-38). In 2010, she scored him as a 32.5 on the test, with a score of 30 to 40 evidencing the presence of psychopathy. (RP 580). She agreed that in the 12 or 13 years since he began living at SCC he has not exhibited any antisocial personality traits or symptoms, has only had 2

behavior management reports (BMR) once in 2007 and 2009, and is considered respectful, polite and friendly. (RP 665).

Dr. Luis Rosell, an expert for the defense, interviewed Mr. Anderson and reviewed his records. Dr. Rosell observed that Mr. Anderson, as a man who has spent his 30's and early 40's at SCC showed that he was able to exercise control over his behavior. (RP 893).

He disagreed with the State's expert witness that Mr. Anderson's relationships with fellow patients at WSH was a sign of pedophilia. (RP 897). Diagnostically, pedophilia is sexual arousal to individuals who do not have secondary sexual characteristics, that is, children who are prepubescent. (RP 898). The relationships Mr. Anderson had were with adult men. His review revealed no indication that Mr. Anderson displayed any active symptoms of pedophilia either at WSH or SCC. He stated that individuals in confined settings who are acting out their pedophilia often have child pornography, write stories about having sex with children, draw pictures of children in sexual positions, collect pictures of children from catalogs or newspaper clippings. (RP 895). The PPG administered in 1998 showed arousal to deviant scenarios, but also evidenced that he was able to successfully control and suppress the arousal, one of the goals of his treatment. (RP 898;904).

He also disagreed that Mr. Anderson met the criteria for a diagnosis of sexual sadism. He explained that sexual sadism is quite rare, even in the sex offender population, and a true sadist's arousal is driven by and requires the humiliation, pain and suffering of another to achieve arousal. (RP 896-97). After reviewing Mr. Anderson's past offenses and adult history, he concluded there was no evidence that the diagnosis was applicable to him. (RP 897).

Dr. Rosell administered some of the same tests as Dr. Phenix, and testified about Mr. Anderson's test scores. Like Dr. Phenix, he scored Mr. Anderson as a "5" on the Static-99R. This score meant that of all of the individuals who scored a "5" on the Static 99-R, 18% reoffended. If the score were evaluated against a high risk/high needs subsample, 25% reoffended within a 5-year period and 35% in a 10-year period. If the score was evaluated against a 'preselected for treatment' subset, the rate was 22% in a 10-year period. (RP 908).

In contrast to Dr. Phenix's score of 32.75, he scored Mr. Anderson as a 20 on the PCL-R checklist. (RP 912). He also took exception to the use of the SRA-FV because of a sample size that skewed the scores, questions about whether the factors were related to sexual recidivism, and the fact that the instrument has not been peer reviewed. (RP 910-11).

The jury found the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Anderson was a sexually violent predator. (CP 772). Mr. Anderson filed this timely appeal. (CP 787).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Erred When It Did Not Dismiss for Lack Of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

An appellate court reviews de novo a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Dept. of Revenue*, 166 Wn. App. 342, 271 P.3d 268; *corrected, rev. denied* 175 Wn.2d 1009, 285 P.3d 885 (2012).

The legislature has set forth by statute detailed procedures addressing when the State may file a petition to civilly commit a person.

An RCW 71.09 petition may be filed on 5 classes of individuals:

(a) A person who has been *convicted* of a sexually violent offense who is about to be released from total confinement; (b) A person found to have *committed* a sexually violent offense as a juvenile is about to be released from total confinement; (c) A person who has been charged with a sexually violent offense and who has been determined to be incompetent to stand trial is about to be released, or has been released pursuant to RCW 10.77.086; (d) A person who has been found not guilty by reason of insanity is about to be released, or has been released, pursuant to RCW 10.77.020, .110, or .150; or (e) A person who at any time previously has been

convicted of a sexually violent offense and has since been released from confinement and committed a recent overt act. (Emphasis added).

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