# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of John Anderson:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN ANDERSON,

Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MALCOLM ROSS Senior Counsel WSBA #22883 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430

###

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

Anderson argues that the order civilly committing him as an SVP should be reversed because the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction, the State failed to establish that he had committed a recent overt act, the state failed to establish he had a mental abnormality and there was insufficient evidence to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Anderson is SVP. His arguments are without merit. The trial court had subject matter jurisdiction under RCW 71.09.030, which specifically provides for the filing of a petition in a case such as this. The State also established an extensive history of sexual acts with vulnerable persons that qualified as recent overt acts. The State produced substantial evidence at

trial that Anderson is an SVP. Anderson's civil commitment as an SVP should be affirmed.

# A. The Unambiguous Language of RCW 71.09.030 and Related Provisions Clearly Indicate Legislative Intent to Permit an SVP Petition to Be Filed in a Case Such as This

Anderson argues that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because RCW 71.09 does not permit a petition to be filed where a person has committed a sexually violent offense as a juvenile and then commits a recent overt act after release from confinement. Brief of Appellant at 15-20. His foundational premise is that juveniles cannot be "convicted" of offenses and the legislature's use of that term in RCW 71.09.030(1)(e) shows intent to preclude petitions under facts such as those in this case. Anderson is incorrect. While juveniles cannot be considered to be convicted of crimes or felonies, they can be convicted of "offenses;" or, in this case, of a "sexually violent offense." A plain reading of the statute in the context of related provisions and the statutory scheme as a whole indicates that the legislature intended to permit the filing of sexually violent predator petitions under facts such as are presented here.

#### 1. Standard of Review

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. *In re Detention of Mines*, 165 Wn. App. 112, 120, 266 P.3d 242 (2011). When

interpreting a statute, a court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent. *Id.* Where a statute's meaning is plain on its face, a reviewing court must give effect to that plain meaning to carry out legislative intent. *Id.* Plain meaning is derived not only from the ordinary meaning of the statute's language, but also from the context of the statute in which a specific provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. *Id.* 

#### 2. Juveniles Can Be "Convicted" of "Offenses"

RCW 71.09 targets a small group of sexual predators who suffer from a mental disease or defect that makes them dangerous. RCW 71.09.010. A sexually violent predator is a person

who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility.

RCW 71.09.020(18). The term "sexually violent offense" includes a number of sexual crimes identified in RCW 71.09.020(17). Additionally, if the person is living in the community when the petition is filed, the State must show the person to be currently dangerous by proving he has committed a "recent overt act." RCW 71.09.020(12), .060(1).

RCW 71.09.030(1) provides that a petition "may be filed" when one of the following five circumstances are present: a) a person has

previously been convicted of a sexually violent offense and is about to be released; b) a person who committed a sexually violent offense as a juvenile is about to be released; c) a person found incompetent to stand trial for a sexually violent offense is about to be released; d) a person found not guilty by reason of insanity of a sexually violent offense is about to be released; or e) a person previously convicted of a sexually violent offense who has been released has committed a recent over act.<sup>4</sup>

Anderson argues that the term "convicted" in RCW 71.09.030(1)(e) indicates the Legislature intended to apply that provision only to those who committed a predicate offense as an adult. He asserts that juveniles cannot be convicted of crimes, relying on RCW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 71.09.030(1) provides (emphasis added):

A petition may be filed alleging that a person is a sexually violent predator and stating sufficient facts to support such allegation when it appears that: (a) A person who at any time previously has been convicted of a sexually violent offense is about to be released from total confinement; (b) a person found to have committed a sexually violent offense as a juvenile is about to be released from total confinement; (c) a person who has been charged with a sexually violent offense and who has been determined to be incompetent to stand trial is about to be released, or has been released, pursuant to RCW 10.77.086(4); (d) a person who has been found not guilty by reason of insanity of a sexually violent offense is about to be released, or has been released, pursuant to RCW 10.77.020(3), 10.77.110 (1) or (3), or 10.77.150; or (e) a person who at any time previously has been convicted of a sexually violent offense and has since been released from total confinement and has committed a recent overt act.

13.04.240.<sup>5</sup> From this premise, he next asserts that juveniles cannot be considered to have been convicted of a "sexually violent offense" as that term is defined in RCW 71.09.020(17) and used in RCW 71.09.030(1)(e). RCW 13.04.240, however, does not compel the interpretation Anderson suggests. There is no statutory prohibition on considering a person having been convicted as a juvenile of an "offense."

The distinction between a juvenile being convicted of a crime or felony, as opposed to being convicted of an offense, is explained in *State v. Michaelson*, 124 Wn.2d 364, 878 P.2d 1206 (1994). In *Michaelson*, a juvenile charged with taking a motor vehicle without permission entered into a diversion, then sought to prevent a record of the case from being sent to the Department of Licensing. Relying on *In re Frederick*, 93 Wn.2d 28, 30, 604 P.2d 953 (1980), the State responded that the statute at issue, RCW 13.50.200, was ambiguous, making the same argument made here by Anderson – that "[t]he adjudication of a juvenile for an offense which if committed by an adult would be a crime is not a conviction." *Id.* at 336 (emphasis omitted). *Michaelson* distinguished *Frederick* as having differentiated between "felonies and juvenile offenses" and rejected the State's argument: "While a juvenile cannot be convicted of a *felony*, he or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RCW 13.04.240 provides: "An order of court adjudging a child a juvenile offender or dependent under the provisions of this chapter shall in no case be deemed a conviction of crime."

convicted offense contemplated by she can be of an as RCW 46.20.270(4)." Id. at 367 (emphasis added). The Court also cited JuCR 7.12(c) and (d), which recognize that a juvenile, if found guilty, is "convicted" of an offense. *Id. Michaelson* concluded, "Since juveniles can receive convictions, there is no apparent conflict between RCW 13.50.200 and RCW 46.20.270." 124 Wn.2d at 367. Juveniles can be convicted of "offenses." See, e.g., State v. McKinley, 84 Wn. App. 677, 681, 929 P.2d 1145 (1997) ("The term "offense" applies equally to adult and juvenile crimes.") (citing In re A, B, C, D, E, 121 Wn.2d 80, 87, 847 P.2d 455 (1993)).

3. Because Juveniles Can Be Convicted of Offenses, the Plain Language of RCW 71.09.030 Indicates the Legislature's Intent to Permit the Filing of a Petition in Cases Such as This One

Where the plain language of a statute leads to only one interpretation, that interpretation controls. *In re Detention of Danforth*, 173 Wn.2d 59, 67, 264 P.3d 783 (2011). The plain language of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Former RCW 46.20.270(4) (1994) provided, in pertinent part:

For the purposes of Title 46 RCW the term "conviction" means a final conviction in a state or municipal court or by any federal authority having jurisdiction over offenses substantially the same as those set forth in Title 46 RCW which occur on federal installations in this state "

Contemplated offenses included, among others, vehicular homicide, vehicular assault and "[a]ny felony in the commission of which a motor vehicle is used." *See* former RCW 46.20.285 (1994).

RCW 71.09 shows that the legislature intended to authorize the filing of petitions against individuals whose predicate offenses were committed when they were juveniles. First, its notification procedures explicitly include juvenile offenders in the class of those whose imminent release from confinement requires a referral to a prosecuting attorney. RCW 71.09.025(1)(a)(ii).<sup>7</sup> Second, RCW 71.09.030(1)(b) explicitly includes juvenile offenders who are about to be released from confinement in the group of individuals against whom petitions can be filed.<sup>8</sup> "The Legislature has included juvenile sex offenders in the group subject to commitment as sexually violent predators." *Dependency of Q.L.M. v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 105 Wn. App. 532, 536-37, 20 P.3d 465 (2001) (citing RCW 71.09.030). Finally, as shown above, because persons adjudicated to have committed offenses as juveniles can be considered to have been "convicted" of an offense, the Legislature

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RCW 71,09,025 provides, in pertinent part (emphasis added):

<sup>(1)(</sup>a) When it appears that a person may meet the criteria of a sexually violent predator as defined in RCW 71.09.020(16), the agency with jurisdiction shall refer the person in writing to the prosecuting attorney of the county in which an action under this chapter may be filed pursuant to RCW 71.09.030 and the attorney general, three months prior to: . . . (ii) The anticipated release from total confinement of a person found to have committed a sexually violent offense as a juvenile[.]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> RCW 71.09.030(1) provides: "A petition may be filed alleging that a person is a sexually violent predator and stating sufficient facts to support such allegation when it appears that: . . . (b) a person found to have committed a sexually violent offense as a juvenile is about to be released from total confinement[.]

included in RCW 71.09.030(1)(e) offenders who were "convicted" of a sexually violent offense as a juvenile and who later commit a "recent overt act." The plain language of the statute compels this conclusion.

Anderson correctly acknowledges that a juvenile offender who has committed a sexually violent offense and is about to be released from a juvenile facility can be involuntarily and indefinitely committed as a sexually violent predator. RCW 71.09.030(1)(b). However, he interprets RCW 71.09.030(1)(e) as prohibiting the filing of a petition where that same person has been released and now as a juvenile or adult commits a "recent overt act" that demonstrates current dangerousness by causing harm of a sexually violent nature or foreshadowing such harm. This Court does not interpret statutes in a way that would lead to such strained or absurd results. *Fair v. State*, 139 Wn. App. 532, 542, 161 P.3d 466 (2007). Under Anderson's interpretation, no matter how many recent overt acts such a person committed, the State could not file a petition until after he had been convicted of another sexually violent offense. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> RCW 71.09.020(12) defines "recent overt act" as "any act, threat, or combination thereof that has either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the act or behaviors.

argument that has been rejected by Washington courts for two decades is an insufficient basis for inferring any such alternative intent.

# 4. Even if the Statute Is Considered Ambiguous, Statutory Construction Must Produce the Same Result

If a statute can be interpreted in more than one way, the Court may resort to statutory construction. *State v. Donaghe*, 172 Wn.2d 253, 262, 256 P.3d 1171 (2011). The goal remains to ascertain and carry out legislative intent. *In re Detention of Durbin*, 160 Wn. App. 414, 426, 248 P.3d 124 (2011). "The primary purpose of chapter 71.09 RCW is to protect the public." *In re Detention of Kistenmacher*, 163 Wn.2d 166, 173, 178 P.3d 949 (2008); RCW 71.09.010. RCW 71.09.030 must therefore be construed in a manner consistent with public safety. Construing it in the manner Anderson urges would exclude persons convicted of one or more sexually violent offenses while a juvenile who exhibit continued dangerousness through the commission of recent overt acts. That interpretation would lead to the release of dangerous individuals like Anderson and is contrary to the primary goal of protecting the public.

In construing a statute a court may also consider "the entire sequence of all statutes relating to the same subject matter." State v. Monfort, 179 Wn.2d 122, , 312 P.3d 637, 641 (2013) (citing State v.

Morales, 173 Wn.2d 560, 567, 269 P.3d 263 (2012)). "More broadly, we consider all statutes relating to the same subject matter, pursuant to the principle of reading statutes in pari materia." *Id.* The Washington Supreme Court has noted that, in the context of other juvenile justice statutes, the legislature often uses the term "conviction" to apply to both juvenile and adult offenses. *Matter of Juveniles A, B, C, D, E*, 121 Wn.2d 80, 87-88, 847 P.2d 455 (1993) (statute mandating HIV testing for sexual offenders applies to juvenile sex offenders). The Court noted that "the Legislature's use of 'conviction' in statutes to refer to juveniles appears to be endemic." *Id.* at 87.<sup>10</sup>

Taking these other statutes into account, it is clear the Legislature frequently uses the term "convicted" to refer to juvenile adjudications. The "endemic" use of the term therefore makes clear that the Legislature did not intend to exclude those with juvenile predicate offenses when it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Juveniles A, B, C, D, E, 121 Wn.2d at 87-88:

Numerous other statutes, including sections of the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, RCW 9.94A, and the Juvenile Justice Act of 1977, RCW 13.40, use "convicted" to reference both adult and juvenile offenders. See, e.g., RCW 9.94A.030(9) ("Conviction' means an adjudication of guilt".); RCW 9.94A.030(12)(b) ("Criminal history" includes a defendant's prior convictions in juvenile court.); RCW 13.40.280(4) (refers to the "convicted juvenile"); RCW 43.43.830(4) ("Conviction record" includes crimes committed while either an adult or juvenile.); RCW 46.20.342(2) (refers to the "conviction" of a juvenile); RCW 74.13.034(2) (refers to "convicted juveniles"). In fact, several statutes use "convicted" specifically to reference juvenile sexual offenders. RCW 9.94A.360; RCW 9A.44.130(3)(a) ("the term 'conviction' refers to adult convictions and juvenile adjudications").

adopted RCW 71.09.030(1)(e). Anderson's argument should be rejected and his civil commitment order affirmed.

# B. The State Presented Substantial Evidence That Anderson Committed A Recent Overt Act

Anderson challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the jury's finding that he committed a recent overt act. He argues that "consensual adult homosexual activity" cannot constitute a recent overt act, that sexual activity with adults cannot be a recent overt act where the person suffers from pedophilia, and that the overt acts were not recent.

These questions, however, were already raised and rejected by this Court and the Supreme Court, and those holdings are the law of this case. On remand from the Supreme Court, the State's burden was to produce sufficient evidence that the acts occurred. The jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that they did, and that they constituted recent overt acts. Both Dr. Phenix and Dr. Arnholt opined that Anderson's prolific sexual contact with vulnerable WSH patients were consistent with ongoing arousal to children and paralleled his criminal behavior in the community.

#### 1. Standard of Review

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> RCW 71.09.020(12) defines "recent overt act" as follows:

<sup>&</sup>quot;Recent over act" means any act, threat, or combination thereof that has either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the act or behaviors.

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